FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/3/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101687-5

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
2/2/2023 12:35 PM

NO. 82725-1

Court of Appeals, Division I of the State of Washington

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

STARKIST COMPANY, et al.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON *Attorney General*

Holly A. Williams, WSBA No. 41187 Luminita Nodit, WSBA No. 50972 Assistant Attorneys General Cynthia Alexander, WSBA No. 46019 Deputy Solicitor General Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 206.464.7744

IV.	ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE		TEMENT OF THE CASE4	
		StarKist Pled Guilty to a Criminal Price-Fixing Charge For Its Tuna Price-Fixing Conspiracy4	
		StarKist's Participation in the Tuna Price-Fixing Conspiracy Is Established as a Matter of Law 6	
	C. The Court of Appeals Granted Discretionary Review and Reversed the Trial Court's Ruling on Joint and Several Liability		
VI.	ARC	GUMENT 10	
	A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts With Supreme Court Precedent and Review Is Proper Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)		
		It is well-established under Washington law that the liability of conspirators is joint and several	
	2	2. The Court of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with decisions of this Court	

	В.	Joint and Several Liability for Conspirators Is An Issue of Substantial Public Interest and Review Is		
		Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)	19	
VII.	CC	ONCLUSION	20	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Am. Tobacco Co. v. United States, 147 F.2d 93 (6th Cir. 1944), aff'd, 328 U.S. 781, 66 S. Ct. 1125, 90 L. Ed. 1575 (1946)
Beltz Travel Serv., Inc. v. Int'l Air Transp. Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360 (9th Cir. 1980)
Eyak River Packing Co. v. Huglen, 143 Wn. 229, 255 P. 123, on reh'g, 143 Wn. 229, 257 P. 638 (1927)
Lyle v. Haskins, 24 Wn.2d 883, 168 P.2d 797 (1946)12, 13, 15, 18
Newton Ins. Agency & Brokerage, Inc. v. Caledonian Ins. Grp., Inc., 114 Wn. App. 151, 52 P.3d 30 (2002), as corrected (Sept. 23, 2002)
Sears v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Stablemen & Helpers of Am., Loc. No. 524, 8 Wn.2d 447, 112 P.2d 850 (1941)
StarKist Co. v. State, No. 82725-1 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2023)
State ex rel. Woodworth & Cornell v. Superior Ct. for King Cnty., 9 Wn.2d 37, 113 P.2d 527 (1941)

State of Wash. v. Am. Pipe & Const. Co., 280 F. Supp. 802 (W.D. Wash. 1968)
State v. Kurtz, 178 Wn.2d 466, 309 P.3d 472 (2013)
Sterling Bus. Forms, Inc. v. Thorpe, 82 Wn. App. 446, 918 P.2d 531 (1996)
United States v. Patten, 226 U.S. 525, 33 S. Ct. 141, 57 L. Ed. 333 (1913)
United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 60 S. Ct. 811, 84 L. Ed. 1129 (1940)
Wynn v. Earin, 163 Wn.2d 361, 181 P.3d 806 (2008)
<u>Statutes</u>
15 U.S.C. § 1
RCW 19.86.030
RCW 19.86.080
RCW 19.86.92019
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13 4(b)(4) 3 10 19 20

I. INTRODUCTION

In an opinion that directly conflicts with decisions of this Court, the Court of Appeals mistakenly conflated the trial court's discretion to award restitution for a price-fixing conspiracy with the related but separate question of the liability of the conspiracy's participants.

StarKist, the leading brand in the U.S. packaged tuna market, pled guilty to a federal felony charge for conspiring to fix the price of packaged tuna in violation of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. StarKist admitted conspiring with its largest competitors, Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea, to fix the price of packaged tuna sold throughout the United States and in Washington. Together, StarKist and its coconspirators command over 80 percent of the U.S. packaged tuna market and their illegal conspiracy inflated the prices consumers paid for this staple food.

The State commenced an action for violation of the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), RCW 19.86.030, on behalf of Washington consumers who overpaid for tuna because of this

price-fixing conspiracy. The trial court twice granted partial summary judgment for the State, first finding StarKist liable for price fixing for the period of its federal guilty plea, and next finding StarKist jointly and severally liable for the wrongful acts of its coconspirators, Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea. StarKist sought, and the Court of Appeals granted, interlocutory discretionary review of the summary judgment order on its joint and several liability.

The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court has the authority to hold StarKist liable for the actions of its coconspirators, rejecting StarKist's arguments that joint and several liability cannot apply in an equitable action for restitution under the CPA. However, the court erroneously held that imposing joint and several liability on a conspirator for all of the acts of its coconspirators is discretionary and does not apply as a matter of law. It reached that conclusion despite StarKist's participation in the conspiracy having been established as a matter of law, and reversed the trial court's summary judgment

order because it "did not represent an exercise of the trial court's discretion." Compounding the error, the Court of Appeals conflated liability with remedy, remanding to the trial court "to allow it to determine, in the exercise of discretion, the amount of restitution it deems necessary," when the trial court's order concerned only liability, not restitution.

Joint and several liability for conspiracies is well-settled under Washington law and is a fundamental element of federal antitrust law on which the CPA's antitrust provisions are based. The Court of Appeals' decision that such liability is discretionary is in direct conflict with this Court's decisions that the liability of conspirators is joint and several as a matter of law, and is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (b)(4). This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and confirm that where participation in a conspiracy is established as a matter of law, the liability of conspirators is joint and several.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the State of Washington.

III. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION

The State seeks discretionary review of the January 3, 2023 decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, reversing the trial court's summary judgment order on StarKist's joint and several liability for the wrongful acts of its coconspirators, Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea. (Attached as Appendix A).

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in ruling that joint and several liability is a matter of the trial court's discretion where a conspirator's participation in a price-fixing conspiracy is established as a matter of law.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. StarKist Pled Guilty to a Criminal Price-Fixing Charge For Its Tuna Price-Fixing Conspiracy

In 2018, StarKist pled guilty to a federal criminal charge for violating the Sherman Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. CP 427-45. As part of its plea, StarKist admitted that from "at

least as early as November 2011 and continuing through at least as late as December 2013," it "participated in a conspiracy among major packaged-seafood-producing firms, the primary purpose of which was to fix, raise, and maintain the prices of packaged seafood sold in the United States." CP 429-30.

Bumble Bee had previously pled guilty and, as part of its plea, admitted participating in the price-fixing conspiracy from "at least as early as the first quarter of 2011 and continuing through at least the last quarter of 2013." CP 396-97. Chicken of the Sea also admitted its participation in the conspiracy as part of receiving a grant of conditional leniency from the U.S. Department of Justice for corporations that admit their cartel activity and cooperate in its investigations. CP 138, 149. Chicken of the Sea later reached a similar agreement to cooperate with the State, entering into a consent decree providing for injunctive relief, monetary relief, and cooperation with the State's investigation and lawsuit against its coconspirators. CP 447-62. Chicken of the Sea detailed its cartel activities in federal civil

litigation arising from the same conspiracy, including that "as early as November 2011" there was agreement among Chicken of the Sea, Bumble Bee, and StarKist on the "timing of list price increase for branded tuna products." CP 389.

B. StarKist's Participation in the Tuna Price-Fixing Conspiracy Is Established as a Matter of Law

In June 2020, the State sued StarKist, StarKist's parent company Dongwon Industries Co. Ltd., and former Bumble Bee CEO Christopher Lischewski, alleging price fixing in violation of RCW 19.86.030, which prohibits every contract, combination, or conspiracy in restraint of trade or commerce. CP 1-53. Bumble Bee had commenced Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings in late 2019 and was therefore not included in the State's suit. CP 414. The State moved for partial summary judgment on StarKist's liability for price fixing in violation of the CPA for the same period as its federal guilty plea. CP 68-86. In February 2021, the Superior Court granted summary judgment on StarKist's liability under RCW 19.86.030. CP 106-108.

The State next moved for partial summary judgment on StarKist's joint and several liability for the wrongful acts of its coconspirators Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea for the period all three admitted participating in the conspiracy. CP 118-131. The trial court granted summary judgment, ordering that "StarKist is jointly and severally liable for the harm caused by its co-conspirators Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea as a result of the price-fixing conspiracy." CP 314-15. The order addressed only the legal question of StarKist's joint and several liability and did not address restitution. Id. The trial court did not, as the Court of Appeals said, "h[o]ld StarKist liable for the conspiracy's profits." StarKist Co. v. State, No. 82725-1, slip op. at 17 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 3, 2023). Restitution was not before Court of Appeals or trial court; neither the summary judgment order, nor the motion it granted, mentions profits and the trial court did not enter any order about the measure or amount of any restitution it may ultimately award after this case proceeds to trial. CP 314-15.

C. The Court of Appeals Granted Discretionary Review and Reversed the Trial Court's Ruling on Joint and Several Liability

StarKist sought interlocutory, discretionary review of the trial court's summary judgment order on StarKist's joint and several liability. CP 319-23. The Court of Appeals accepted review and reversed the trial court. *StarKist Co.*, slip op. at 1, 4. StarKist did not challenge the first summary judgment order on its liability for violating RCW 19.86.030. *Id.*, slip op. at 5.

The Court of Appeals explained its reversal of the joint and several liability ruling, "not because, as StarKist contends, it can be liable only for its own profits gained through the conspiracy, but because RCW 19.86.080 does not mandate joint and several liability." *Id.*, slip op. at 1. Because the statute "confers discretion on the trial court to determine what judgment 'may be necessary' to restore to consumers" money acquired by a conspiracy, the Court of Appeals concluded that the trial court "may impute to one conspirator the actions of all coconspirators" but is not required to do so. *Id.*, slip op. at 1-2. The Court of

Appeals further held that the trial court "may order StarKist to pay an amount equal to all consumer losses from the entire conspiracy if the court deems it necessary to do so" but that RCW 19.86.080 does not mandate joint and several liability. *Id.*, slip op. at 4.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that StarKist's participation in the conspiracy is established as a matter of law. *Id.*, slip op. at 3. "There is no dispute that from November 2011 until December 2013, StarKist engaged in an unlawful conspiracy with Chicken of the Sea and Bumble Bee to fix the price of packaged tuna in Washington." *Id.*, slip op. at 5. The court affirmed it is "undisputed that StarKist conspired with Bumble Bee and [Chicken of the Sea] in a price fixing scheme," that StarKist had pled guilty in federal court to being a member of the conspiracy, and that its participation in a criminal partnership with Bumble Bee and Chicken of the Sea has been established as a matter of law. *Id.*, slip op. at 17.

Notwithstanding StarKist's undisputed liability as a price-fixing conspirator as a matter of law, the Court of Appeals concluded that StarKist is not jointly and severally liable for its coconspirators as a matter of law. Instead, the court held that the trial court has discretion to impose such liability, or to limit StarKist's liability to the extent of its participation in the conspiracy. *Id*.

VI. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' holding is in direct conflict with decisions of this Court, which require joint and several liability as a matter of law for conspirators, and review is appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1). The decision also involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court and is reviewable pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

- A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts With Supreme Court Precedent and Review Is Proper Under RAP 13.4(b)(1)
 - 1. It is well-established under Washington law that the liability of conspirators is joint and several

For decades, this Court has repeatedly held that "[e]very person who enters into a conspiracy, no matter whether at its beginning or at a later stage of its progress, is in law a party to every act of the conspirators, and is liable for all of the acts done in pursuance of the conspiracy in the same manner that they would be had they been a party to all of the wrongful acts." Sears v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Stablemen & Helpers of Am., Loc. No. 524, 8 Wn.2d 447, 454, 112 P.2d 850 (1941) (emphasis added) (citing Eyak River Packing Co. v. Huglen, 143 Wn. 229, 234, 255 P. 123, on reh'g, 143 Wn. 229, 257 P. 638 (1927)); see State ex rel. Woodworth & Cornell v. Superior Ct. for King Cnty., 9 Wn.2d 37, 41, 113 P.2d 527 (1941) ("Defendants were charged with civil conspiracy, and are jointly and severally liable. The action may be maintained against any one or all.").

Consistent with this authority, this Court held in *Lyle v*. *Haskins* that, having concluded that a conspiracy existed, "the liability of the conspirators is joint and several." 24 Wn.2d 883, 900, 168 P.2d 797 (1946) (citing 11 Am. Jur. § 45). "Since the liability of the conspirators is joint and several, an[] action may be brought against only one of the conspirators, or plaintiff may, at his option, join all the conspirators as defendants in one action." 24 Wn.2d at 900.

In that case, Lyle purchased a sawmill and lumber business from Haskins, and then Haskins conspired with his son and other business partners to operate a competing sawmill business in violation of the sales contract with Lyle. *Id.* at 885-86. This Court affirmed the judgment and injunction entered by the trial court against Haskins, his son, and their business partners. *Id.* at 909. "Appellants Johnson, entering into the conspiracy after it was formed between Harold Haskins, Perkins and Robert Haskins, became liable for all acts committed by any

of the other parties, either before or after their entrance, in furtherance of the common design." *Id.* at 900.

Subsequent Washington courts have followed the bedrock principle in *Lyle* that the liability of conspirators is joint and several. *See Sterling Bus. Forms, Inc. v. Thorpe*, 82 Wn. App. 446, 454, 918 P.2d 531 (1996) (citing *Lyle*, 24 Wn.2d at 899) ("The liability of conspirators is joint and several. That is, each is liable for all acts committed by any of the other parties, either before or after their entrance, in furtherance of the common design."); *Newton Ins. Agency & Brokerage, Inc. v. Caledonian Ins. Grp., Inc.*, 114 Wn. App. 151, 161, 52 P.3d 30 (2002), *as corrected* (Sept. 23, 2002) ("As his co-conspirator, Caledonian is jointly and severally liable for the damages resulting from his conduct.").

This Court's precedent is consistent with longstanding federal authority that antitrust coconspirators are jointly and severally liable. *See State of Wash. v. Am. Pipe & Const. Co.*, 280 F. Supp. 802, 804-05 (W.D. Wash. 1968) (citing federal

cases from across the nation) (explaining that "the fact of participation in the conspiracy" makes all coconspirators jointly and severally liable). When competitors conspire, "the action of any of the conspirators to restrain or monopolize trade is, in law, the action of all" and they are all "jointly liable for the acts of their co-conspirators." Beltz Travel Serv., Inc. v. Int'l Air Transp. Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360, 1367 (9th Cir. 1980) (citing *United States* v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 253-54, 60 S. Ct. 811, 84 L. Ed. 1129 (1940); Am. Tobacco Co. v. United States, 147 F.2d 93, 106 (6th Cir. 1944), aff'd, 328 U.S. 781, 66 S. Ct. 1125, 90 L. Ed. 1575 (1946)). Courts "apply the well-established principle that 'a conspiracy (is) not to be judged by dismembering it and viewing its separate parts, but only by looking at it as a whole." Beltz, 620 F.2d at 1366 (citing United States v. Patten, 226 U.S. 525, 544, 33 S. Ct. 141, 57 L. Ed. 333 (1913)). A conspirator is liable for the acts of all members of the conspiracy regardless of the nature of its own actions, and participation "in every detail in the execution of the conspiracy

is unnecessary to establish liability, for each conspirator may be performing different tasks to bring about the desired result." *Beltz*, 620 F.2d at 1367 (citation omitted).

2. The Court of Appeals' decision is in direct conflict with decisions of this Court

The Court of Appeals' reversal of the trial court's ruling is in direct conflict with this Court's holdings on joint and several liability for conspirators. The Court of Appeals recognized that under "well-established Washington common law, a conspiracy is a single enterprise for which all coconspirators are responsible." StarKist Co., slip op. at 8. It went on to conclude that the trial court's authority to restore money to consumers under RCW 19.86.080 "included the pre-existing power under common law to hold one conspirator liable for all of the acts done in pursuance of the conspiracy, even if they were not a party to all of the wrongful acts." *Id.*, slip op. at 13. The court cited *Lyle*, where this Court "stated that 'the liability of the conspirators is joint and several." Id., slip op. at 12 (citing 24 Wn.2d at 900).

Yet despite its citation to this authority, the Court of Appeals did not follow it

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the trial court "has the discretion to decide that StarKist should be liable for the full amount of the conspiracy's illegal gains but it also has the discretion to tie StarKist's liability to the extent of its participation" in the conspiracy, *Id.*, slip op. at 17, conflates liability with remedy in direct conflict with this Court's precedent that the liability of conspirators is joint and several. The Court of Appeals erred when it equated the trial court's discretion to determine the amount of restitution after liability is established with the initial, separate issue of the extent of StarKist's liability. In other words, the court put the cart before the horse. Liability and remedy are distinct determinations, and the trial court's discretion to award restitution under the CPA is separate from the joint and several liability of conspirators as a matter of law pursuant to this Court's decisions. Whatever amount of restitution the trial court may ultimately award in any

judgment, as a conspirator, StarKist is jointly and severally liable for it under Washington law.

The Court of Appeals' error is evident from its statement at the outset of its decision that RCW 19.86.080 "confers discretion on the trial court to determine what judgment 'may be necessary" to restore money to consumers, but the statute "does not mandate joint and several liability." *Id.*, slip op. at 1. But it is not the CPA that imposes joint and several liability—it is the Washington common law of conspiracy and decisions of this Court that mandate joint and several liability for conspirators.

The Legislature did not derogate the common law of joint and several liability for conspirators in enacting the CPA, and that common law controls. Nothing in the CPA's text precludes joint and several liability or conveys a legislative intent to deviate from the common law. There "must be clear evidence of the legislature's intent to deviate from the common law, not clear evidence to preserve it." *State v. Kurtz*, 178 Wn.2d 466, 477, 309 P.3d 472 (2013). Statutes "will not be construed in derogation of

the common law absent express legislative intent to change the law." *Wynn v. Earin*, 163 Wn.2d 361, 371, 181 P.3d 806 (2008).

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the degree of liability is discretionary where participation in a conspiracy has been established as a matter of law directly conflicts with this Court's decisions that the liability of conspirators is joint and several and that every person who enters into a conspiracy "is in law a party to every act of the conspirators." See Sears, 8 Wn.2d 447 at 452 (quoting Eyak River Packing Co., 143 Wn. at 234); Lyle, 24 Wn.2d at 900. To permit the trial court to decline to hold StarKist liable for the acts of its coconspirators, and to instead limit its liability to "the extent of its participation" in the conspiracy, deviates from controlling Washington law. This Court should therefore accept discretionary review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and reverse the Court of Appeals' ruling.

B. Joint and Several Liability for Conspirators Is An Issue of Substantial Public Interest and Review Is Appropriate Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Joint and several liability for conspiracies in restraint of trade is also an issue of substantial public interest, warranting Supreme Court review. Joint and several liability as a component of CPA enforcement helps protect consumers and promote fair competition in Washington both as a deterrent to discourage companies from violating the CPA and as an important means of holding those who do violate it fully accountable. If conspirators are not liable for the wrongful acts of their coconspirators as a matter of law once participation in a conspiracy is established, this undermines the CPA enforcement scheme and its protections for Washington consumers. And it conflicts with the Legislature's stated intent that the CPA "be liberally construed that its beneficial purposes may be served." RCW 19.86.920. The purpose of the CPA is to "protect the public and foster fair and honest competition." RCW 19.86.920. The public has a substantial interest in effective CPA enforcement to serve those

purposes, and joint and several liability for conspirators that violate the CPA is an important element of that enforcement. Supreme Court review is thus also appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VII. CONCLUSION

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