FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/6/2023 3:28 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101687-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

STARKIST COMPANY, et al.,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LATHAM & WATKINS LLP SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Christopher S. Yates

Pro Hac Vice

Belinda S Lee

Pro Hac Vice

Ashley M. Bauer

Pro Hac Vice

Charles S. Dameron

Pro Hac Vice

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition Should Be Denied

1. The Petition Does Not Identify A
Conflict Between This Court's
Decisions And The Decision Below

The State's petition ignores the statutory language governing this case and invokes unrelated precedents to posit a conflict of authority meriting this Court's review. But there is no conflict. The State's petition should be denied.

First, the State neglects to address the text of the governing statute: RCW 19.86.080. Here, the State brought an action against StarKist under RCW 19.86.080 to restrain a violation of RCW 19.86.030. CP 52-53. The trial court determined that StarKist violated RCW 19.86.030. CP 107. Thus, StarKist may be subjected to an injunction pursuant to RCW 19.86.080(1). And the

trial court "may also make such additional orders or judgments as may be necessary to restore . . . moneys or property . . . which may have been acquired" in the course of that violation. RCW 19.86.080(3) (emphases added).

As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the permissive language of RCW 19.86.080(3)—which provides that a trial court "may . . . make such additional orders . . . as may be necessary"—"confers discretion on the trial court" as to the need and extent of any award of money or property. Slip op. 1. That is distinct from the legislature's mandate elsewhere in the same provision that courts "shall exclude from the amount of monetary relief awarded in an action pursuant to this subsection any amount that duplicates amounts that have been awarded for the same violation." RCW 19.86.080(3) (emphasis added).

"Where a provision contains both the words 'shall' and 'may,' it is presumed that the lawmaker intended to

distinguish between them, 'shall' being construed as mandatory and 'may' as permissive." *Scannell v. City of Seattle*, 97 Wn.2d 701, 704, 648 P.2d 435 (1982). And this Court has recognized that "permissive language" governing a court's powers necessarily vests that court "with discretion" in the exercise of those powers. *See Petrarca v. Halligan*, 83 Wn.2d 773, 776, 522 P.2d 827 (1974). Here, RCW 19.86.080(3) makes clear on its face that a court's award of monetary relief is discretionary, not mandatory.

The State nevertheless asserts that the Court of Appeals erred by "permit[ting] the trial court to decline to hold StarKist liable for the acts of its coconspirators," Pet. 18, and claims this error was rooted in the Court of Appeals' conflation of "the trial court's discretion to determine the amount of restitution" with "the initial, separate issue of the extent of StarKist's liability," *id.* at 16. The State then assumes that determining "the extent

of StarKist's liability" requires consideration of "joint and several liability." *Id*.

But for purposes of RCW 19.86.080, the extent of StarKist's liability (that is, the extent of its fault) has been resolved: StarKist violated RCW 19.86.030 November 2011 to December 2013. See CP 107. The State sought relief for that violation under RCW 19.86.080, which offers only two remedies: injunction, and discretionary restitution as may be necessary to restore ill-gotten money or property. Neither entails inquiry into "joint and several liability," which is a mechanism for apportioning damages. See RCW 4.22.070(1) (providing for a calculation of "fault" "attributable to every entity which caused the claimant's damages," for purposes of proportionate or joint and several liability); see also, e.g., Kottler v. State, 136 Wn.2d 437, 442, 963 P.2d 834 (1998) ("[A]bsent . . . joint and several liability one party will have no duty to pay another's liability for damages."); Dan

B. Dobbs et al., *The Law of Torts* § 487 (2d ed. July 2022 update) (joint and several liability is one means of determining "responsibility for damages").

This Court has said time and again that RCW 19.86.080 has nothing to do with damages; indeed, it has said that damages claims are "qualitatively different from .080 claims," LG Electronics, 186 Wn.2d at 11, ¶12, and that "the statute does not authorize the Attorney General to recover ... damages." Seaboard, 81 Wn.2d at 744. That point disposes of the State's claim that an action under RCW 19.86.080 mandates the application of principles of joint and several liability. The State not only ignores the text of RCW 19.86.080, but this Court's decisions recognizing that the restitution remedy supplied by RCW 19.86.080 does not "contemplate . . . inquir[y] into the question of damages." *Id*.

Instead, the State unearths a scattered body of damages cases standing for the proposition that co-

conspirators are "jointly and severally liable for the damages resulting from [their] conduct." Pet. 13 (quoting Newton Ins. Agency & Brokerage, Inc. v. Caledonian Ins. Grp., Inc., 114 Wn. App. 151, 161, 52 P.3d 30 (2002)); see Sears v. Int'l Brotherhood of Teamsters, Chauffeurs, Stablemen & Helpers of Am., Loc. No. 524, 8 Wn.2d 447, 454, 112 P.2d 850 (1941) (upholding jury verdict that defendants "were guilty of a conspiracy" causing the plaintiff to "suffer[] damages"); State ex rel. Woodworth & Cornell v. Superior Court, 9 Wn.2d 37, 38, 113 P.2d 527 (1941) (addressing a conspiracy claim in which the plaintiff sought "expect[ation]" damages); see also Beltz Travel Serv., Inc. v. Int'l Air Trans. Ass'n, 620 F.2d 1360, 1362 (9th Cir. 1980) (addressing an "action for treble damages"); State v. Am. Pipe & Constr. Co., 280 F. Supp. 802, 805 (W.D. Wash. 1968) (in an action for treble antitrust defendant damages, "must share the responsibility for any damages proved which were occasioned by the sales of co-conspirators").

That parties to a conspiracy are jointly and severally liable *in damages actions*, including under RCW 19.86.090, is undisputed. But this action arises under RCW 19.86.080, which "does not authorize the Attorney General to recover . . . damages." *Seaboard*, 81 Wn.2d at 744. The damages case law cited by the State in its petition is inapposite.

The State also relies upon this Court's decision in *Lyle v. Haskins*, which noted that where "the liability of the conspirators is joint and several, an[] action may be brought against only one of the conspirators." 24 Wn.2d 883, 900, 168 P.2d 797 (1946) (Pet. 12-13). That principle, too, is irrelevant here: the Court of Appeals did not hold that an action under RCW 19.86.080 must be brought against all members of an antitrust conspiracy; it held that RCW 19.86.080 "confers discretion" on the trial

court as to the amount of restitution that may be awarded in an action arising thereunder. Slip op. 1. That determination does not conflict with *Lyle*.

In short, the State's assertion that the decision below "is in direct conflict with this Court's holdings," Pet. 15, is wrong. The petition simply fails to engage with the text of RCW 19.86.080 and ignores this Court's precedents recognizing that claims under RCW 19.86.080 are fundamentally "distinct" from "claims for damages," *LG Electronics*, 186 Wn.2d at 9, ¶9. The Court should deny the petition.

2. The State's Arguments Distort The CPA

The State also asserts that this case warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because "[i]f conspirators are not liable for the wrongful acts of their coconspirators," that will "undermine[] the CPA enforcement scheme and its protections for Washington consumers." Pet. 19. That

argument rests on the mistaken premise that the decision below forbids conspirators from being held liable for the acts of their co-conspirators.

Yet the CPA clearly provides for joint and several liability in damages actions under RCW 19.86.090, which permits claims by "[a]ny person" and by "the state of Washington" for injuries suffered on account of conduct proscribed by the CPA. See, e.g., Wilkinson v. Smith, 31 Wn. App. 1, 13, 639 P.2d 768 (holding defendant "jointly and severally liable" in an action brought under RCW 19.86.090), rev. denied, 97 Wn.2d 1023 (1982). Indeed, RCW 19.86.090 not only allows for joint and several liability; it permits joint and several liability for treble **RCW** 19.86.090; Matheny damages. See *Unumprovident Corp.*, 594 F. Supp. 2d 1212, 1226 (E.D. Wash. 2009) (recognizing joint and several liability as to an award of treble damages). The notion that the decision below will prevent conspirators from being held fully

"liable for the wrongful acts of their coconspirators," Pet. 19, is incorrect.

Indeed, the CPA gives the State a variety of remedies—damages (RCW 19.86.090); injunctive and restitution remedies (RCW 19.86.080); and substantial penalty provisions (RCW 19.86.140). Each plays a distinct role in the CPA's enforcement scheme. "The fact that separate provisions are made in the statute for injunction actions on behalf of the state, in which no mention is made of damages, and damage actions on the part of persons injured" shows that the legislature intended each remedial provision to function in different ways. *Seaboard*, 81 Wn.2d at 745.

The State has benefitted from those distinctions for a half-century. It is the State's attempt to ramp up the scope of available relief under RCW 19.86.080, and not the Court of Appeals' adherence to these clear statutory distinctions, that "undermines the CPA enforcement scheme." Pet. 19.

B. If Review Is Granted, This Court Should Limit The Scope Of The Restitution Remedy

For the reasons set out above, this Court should deny the State's petition. But if this Court grants review, it should recognize that restitution under RCW 19.86.080 is limited to money or property wrongly "acquired" by the defendant from whom restitution is sought. The Court of Appeals' decision to the contrary was error.

1. The Decision Below Conflicts With This Court's Precedents Regarding The Scope Of Restitution Under RCW 19.86.080

Although the Court of Appeals rightly held that RCW 19.86.080 "confers discretion on the trial court," and "does not mandate joint and several liability," slip op. 1, it wrongly concluded that "when the legislature . . . gave courts the authority to restore monies acquired through" a conspiracy in restraint of trade, "that authority included

the pre-existing power under common law to hold one conspirator liable for all of the acts done in pursuance of the conspiracy." Slip op. 13. The latter conclusion—that RCW 19.86.080 permits courts to "hold [a] conspirator liable for . . . the acts" of others, *id*.—is contrary to this Court's precedents.

Those precedents make clear that the purpose of an action under RCW 19.86.080 is to "protect the public," and "not to seek redress for private individuals." *LG Electronics*, 186 Wn.2d at 15, ¶21 (quoting *Seaboard*, 81 Wn.2d at 746). While the statute gives the Attorney General power to seek "restitution," it does so only to "give full effect to the injunction relief" otherwise available under RCW 19.86.080. *Seaboard*, 81 Wn.2d at 744. Forcing a defendant to give up ill-gotten gains accomplishes that injunctive purpose: "[R]ecovery of that which has been illegally acquired and which has given rise to the necessity for the injunctive relief . . . insures future

compliance where it is assured a wrongdoer is compelled to restore illegal gains." *Ralph Williams*, 82 Wn.2d at 277.

Thus, a court order to "restore ... moneys or property ... which may have been acquired" must target "moneys or property" in the possession of the person against whom the order is directed, and which were "acquired" through conduct proscribed by the CPA. *See* RCW 19.86.080(3). That commonsense construction is consistent with statutory context: In contrast to damages actions, RCW 19.86.080 is supposed to provide "a speedy remedy" requiring only "proof" that the defendant "acquired possession of and [is] holding property of a customer unlawfully." *Seaboard*, 81 Wn.2d at 745.

Consistent with that design, a restitution order under RCW 19.86.080 must be limited to the restoration of the defendant's own illegal gains. The Court of Appeals' contrary conclusion that RCW 19.86.080 permits an award "for the full amount of the *conspiracy's* illegal gains," slip

op. at 17 (emphasis added), disregards the language of RCW 19.86.080 and this Court's prior cases.

The Court of Appeals' decision also disregards background principles of equitable restitution. StarKist explained in the proceedings below, equitable restitution targets "particular funds or property in the defendant's possession," where such wrongly held property could be specifically "traced" from the plaintiff to the defendant. Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 213, 122 S. Ct. 708, 151 L. Ed. 2d 635 (2002). Such restitution is distinct from "the imposition of personal liability" with respect to "some funds" belonging to the defendant, regardless of whether the funds are the traceable property of the plaintiff. *Id.* at 214. This Court's precedents embrace that understanding of RCW 19.86.080. See Seaboard, 81 Wn.2d at 742 ("[T]he only property which could be 'restored' by an order of the court in the injunction suit would appear to be

the property of customers wrongfully withheld."). If this Court grants review, it should recognize that this Court's precedents limit equitable restitution to restoration of the *defendant's* "illegal gains" to those the defendant has wronged. *Ralph Williams*, 82 Wn.2d at 277.

2. Equitable Restitution Here Is Limited To The Amount Of StarKist's Gains

Proper application of equitable restitution principles is especially vital here because the recovery sought by the State is so disproportionate to the sum that StarKist is asserted to wrongfully hold. As the State's own expert has calculated, of the \$11.98 million that Washington consumers were allegedly overcharged for tuna, only \$1.07 million (just under nine percent) is attributable to StarKist. Slip op. 3. The remaining *91 percent* is attributable to StarKist's competitors. And as to those competitors, the State either chose not to pursue them, or settled with them for pennies on the dollar (as in the case

of COSI and Bumble Bee CEO Christopher Lischewski).

See id.

Yet the State seeks to recover the full amount from StarKist. The State has never offered a substantive justification for this stark disproportionality. In any event, RCW 19.86.080 does not permit it. Rather, RCW 19.86.080 allows for a restitution order restoring to Washington consumers only those "illegal gains" that StarKist itself "acquired" in the course of its violation of the CPA. *Ralph Williams*, 82 Wn.2d at 277. If this Court grants review, it should clarify that any restitution order on remand may not exceed the sum of those gains.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review. But if it grants review, it should hold that, pursuant to RCW 19.86.080, any restitution order running against StarKist must be limited to StarKist's own profits.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Times New Roman font and contains 4,992 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count under RAP 18.17.